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APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

.

Arizona Nuclear Power Project Docket No. 50-528
Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station Unit 1 License No NPF-34
Phoenix, Arizona 85072-2034

|

During an NRC inspection conducted on April 29-May 3 and May 13-17, 1985 a
violation of NRC requirements was identified. The violation involved the
failure to train and retrain personnel on emergency preparedness in a timely

In accordance with the " General Statement of Policy and Procedure formanner.
NRC Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C (1985), the violation is
listed below:

A. 10 CFR 50.54(q) requires a licensee to follow and maintain in effect
emergency plans which meet the standards in 50.47(b) and the requirements
in Appendix E of this part. Section IV.F of Appendix E,10 CFR Part 50,
requires initial training and periodic retraining of emergency personnel.
Technical Specification 6.8.1 requires that written procedures for
Emergency Plan implementation shall be established, implemented and
maintained. Section 8 of the Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station
Emergency Plan describes the training program. ANPP Administrative
Procedure No. 8N718.04.00, " Emergency Plan Training", has been developed
to implement Section 8 of the Emergency Plan. Attachment I to this
procedure identifies the initial training requirements for site personnel
who occupy emergency organization positions. Section 4.1.1 of this same
procedure identifies basic training and indoctrination requirements to be
provided to PVNGS personnel on an annual basis.'

Contrary to the above requirements, at the time of the inspection 39
individuals identified as having assignments in the emergency
organization had not received full initial training and or retraining
required by their emergency response assignment. In addition, a number
of PVNGS personnel had not received annual retraining in personnel
assembly, accountability, evacuation and reassembly which constitutes the
basic training and indoctrination.

This is a Severity Level IV Violation (Supplement VIII).
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Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Arizona Nuclear Power Project is
hereby required to submit to this office within 30 days of the date of the
letter transmitting this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply
to Item A including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the
results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further
violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where
good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending the response
time.

Notice of Violation
:

| Wr FMg- Date' ~ sr Ross A. Scarano, Director
'

Division of Radiation Safety and
Safeguards
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